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GORDON McCLOUD, J.-The State of Washington bars discrimination in 

"public ... accommodation[s]" on the basis of"sexual orientation." RCW 49.60.215 
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(Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD)). Barronelle Stutzman owns 

and operates a place of public accommodation in our state: Arlene's Flowers Inc. 

Stutzman and her public business, Arlene's Flowers and Gifts, refused to sell 

wedding flowers to Robert Ingersoll because his betrothed, Curt Freed, is a man. 

The State and the couple sued, each alleging violations of the WLAD and the 

Consumer Protection Act (CPA), ch. 19.86 RCW. Stutzman defended on the 

grounds that the WLAD and CPA do not apply to her conduct and that, if they do, 

those statutes violate her state and federal constitutional rights to free speech, free 

exercise, and free association. 

The Benton County Superior Court granted summary judgment to the State 

and the couple, rejecting all of Stutzman's claims. We granted review and now 

affirm. 

FACTS 

In 2004, Ingersoll and Freed began a committed, romantic relationship. In 

2012, our state legislature passed Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill 6239, which 

recognized equal civil marriage rights for same-sex couples. LAWS OF 2012, ch. 3, 

§ 1. Freed proposed marriage to Ingersoll that same year. The two intended to marry 

on their ninth anniversary, in September 2013, and were "excited about organizing 

[their] wedding." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 350. Their plans included inviting "[a] 
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hundred plus" guests to celebrate with them at Bella Fiori Gardens, complete with a 

dinner or reception, a photographer, a caterer, a wedding cake, and flowers. Id. at 

1775-77. 

By the time he and Freed became engaged, Ingersoll had been a customer at 

Arlene's Flowers for at least nine years, purchasing numerous floral arrangements 

from Stutzman and spending an estimated several thousand dollars at her shop. 

Stutzman is the owner and president of Arlene's Flowers. She employs 

approximately 10 people, depending on the season, including three floral designers, 

one of whom is herself. Stutzman knew that Ingersoll is gay and that he had been in 

a relationship with Freed for several years. The two men considered Arlene's 

Flowers to be "[their] florist." Id. at 350. 

Stutzman is an active member of the Southern Baptist church. It is 

uncontested that her sincerely held religious beliefs include a belief that marriage 

can exist only between one man and one woman. 

On February 28, 2013, Ingersoll went to Arlene's Flowers on his way home 

from work, hoping to talk to Stutzman about purchasing flowers for his upcoming 

wedding. Ingersoll told an Arlene's Flowers employee that he was engaged to marry 

Freed and that they wanted Arlene's Flowers to provide the flowers for their 

wedding. The employee informed Ingersoll that Stutzman was not at the shop and 
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that he would need to speak directly with her. The next day, Ingersoll returned to 

speak with Ms. Stutzman. At that time, Stutzman told Ingersoll that she would be 

unable to do the flowers for his wedding because of her religious beliefs, specifically, 

because of"her relationship with Jesus Christ." Id. at 155, 351, 1741-42, 1744-45, 

1 7 63. Ingersoll did not have a chance to specify what kind of flowers or floral 

arrangements he was seeking before Stutzman told him that she would not serve 

him. They also did not discuss whether Stutzman would be asked to bring the 

arrangements to the wedding location or whether the flowers would be picked up 

from her shop. 

Stutzman asserts that she gave Ingersoll the name of other florists who might 

be willing to serve him, and that the two hugged before Ingersoll left her store. 

Ingersoll maintains that he walked away from that conversation "feeling very hurt 

and upset emotionally." Id. at 1743. 

Early the next morning, after a sleepless night, Freed posted a status update 

on his personal Facebook feed regarding Stutzman's refusal to sell him wedding 

flowers. The update observed, without specifically naming Arlene's Flowers, that 

the couple's "favorite Richland Lee Boulevard flower shop" had declined to provide 

flowers for their wedding on religious grounds, and noted that Freed felt "so deeply 

offended that apparently our business is no longer good business," because "[his] 
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loved one [did not fit] within their personal beliefs." Id. at 1262. This message was 

apparently widely circulated, though Ingersoll testified that their Facebook settings 

were such that the message was "only intended for our friends and family." Id. at 

1760, 1785. Eventually, the story drew the attention of numerous media outlets. 

As a result of the "emotional toll" Stutzman's refusal took on Freed and 

Ingersoll, they "lost enthusiasm for a large ceremony" as initially imagined. Id. at 

1490. In fact, the two "stopped planning for a wedding in September 2013 because 

[they] feared being denied service by other wedding vendors." I d. at 351. The 

couple also feared that in light of increasing public attention-some of which caused 

them to be concerned for their own safety-as well as then-ongoing litigation, a 

larger wedding might require a security presence or attract protesters, such as the 

Westboro Baptist group. So they were married on July 21, 2013, in a modest 

ceremony at their home. There were 11 people in attendance. For the occasion, 

Freed and Ingersoll purchased one bouquet of flowers from a different florist and 

boutonnieres from their friend. When word of this story got out in the media, a 

handful of florists offered to provide their wedding flowers free of charge. 

Stutzman also received a great deal of attention from the publicity surrounding 

this case, including threats to her business and other unkind messages. 
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Prior to Ingersoll's request, Arlene's Flowers had never had a request to 

provide flowers for a same-sex wedding, and the only time Stutzman has ever 

refused to serve a customer is when Ingersoll and Freed asked her to provide flowers 

for their wedding. The decision not to serve Ingersoll was made strictly by Stutzman 

and her husband. After Ingersoll's and Freed's request, Stutzman developed an 

"unwritten policy" for Arlene's Flowers that they "don't take same sex marriages." 

Id. at 120. Stutzman states that the only reason for this policy is her conviction that 

"biblically marriage is between a man and a woman." Id. at 120-21. Aside from 

Ingersoll and Freed, she has served gay and lesbian customers in the past for other, 

non-wedding-related flower orders. 

Stutzman maintains that she would not sell Ingersoll any arranged flowers for 

his wedding, even if he were asking her only to replicate a prearranged bouquet from 

a picture book of sample arrangements. She believes that participating, or allowing 

any employee of her store to participate, in a same-sex wedding by providing custom 

floral arrangements and related customer service is tantamount to endorsing 

marriage equality for same-sex couples. She draws a distinction between creating 

floral arrangements--even those designed by someone else-and selling bulk 

flowers and "raw materials," which she would be happy to do for Ingersoll and 

Freed. I d. at 546-4 7. Stutzman believes that to create floral arrangements is to use 

6 

 For the current opinion, go to https://www.lexisnexis.com/clients/wareports/. 



No. 91615-2 

her "imagination and artistic skill to intimately participate in a same-sex wedding 

ceremony." Id. at 547. However, Stutzman aclmowledged that selling flowers for 

an atheistic or Muslim wedding would not be tantamount to endorsing those systems 

of belief. 

By Stutzman's best estimate, approximately three percent of her business 

comes from weddings. Stutzman is not currently providing any wedding floral 

services (other than for members of her immediate family) during the pendency of 

this case. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

After the State became aware of Stutzman's refusal to sell flowers to Ingersoll 

and Freed, the Attorney General's Office sent Stutzman a letter. It sought her 

agreement to stop discriminating against customers on the basis of their sexual 

orientation and noted that doing so would prevent further formal action or costs 

against her. The letter asked her to sign an "Assurance of Discontinuance," which 

stated that she would no longer discriminate in the provision of wedding floral 

services. Stutzman refused to sign the letter. 

As a result, the State filed a complaint for injunctive and other relief under the 

CPA and WLAD against both Stutzman and Arlene's Flowers, in Benton County 

Superior Court on April 9, 2013. Stutzman filed an answer on May 16, 2013, 
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asserting, among other defenses, that her refusal to furnish Ingersoll with wedding 

services was protected by the state and federal constitutions' free exercise, free 

speech, and freedom of association guaranties. Ingersoll and Freed filed a private 

lawsuit against Arlene's Flowers and Stutzman on April 18, 2013, which the trial 

court consolidated with the State's case on July 24, 2013. The parties filed various 

cross motions for summary judgment. The trial court ultimately entered judgment 

for the plaintiffs in both cases, awarding permanent injunctive relief, as well as 

monetary damages for Ingersoll and Freed to cover actual damages, attorneys' fees, 

and costs, and finding Stutzman personally liable. 

When it granted the plaintiffs' motions for summary judgment, the trial court 

made seven rulings that are at issue in this appeal. First, it issued two purely 

statutory rulings: ( 1) that Stutzman violated the WLAD' s public accommodations 

provision (RCW 49.60.215(1)) and the CPA (see RCW 19.86.020 and RCW 

49.60.030) by refusing to sell floral services for same-sex weddings and (2) that both 

Stutzman (personally) and Arlene's Flowers (the corporate defendant) were liable 

for these violations. CP at 2566-600. Next, the court made five constitutional 

rulings. It concluded that the application of the WLAD's public accommodations 

provision to Stutzman in this case ( 1) did not violate Stutzman's right to free speech 

under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution or article I, section 5 
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of the Washington Constitution, (2) did not violate Stutzman's right to religious free 

exercise under the First Amendment, (3) did not violate her right to free association 

under the First Amendment, ( 4) did not violate First Amendment protections under 

the hybrid rights doctrine, and (5) did not violate Stutzman's right to religious free 

exercise under article I, section 11 of the Washington Constitution. !d. at 2601-60. 

Stutzman appealed directly to this court, assigning error to all seven of those 

rulings. We granted direct review. Order, Ingersoll v. Arlene Js Flowers, No. 91615-

2 (Wash. Mar. 2, 2016). With respect to most of the claims, Stutzman and Arlene's 

Flowers make identical arguments-in other words, Stutzman asserts that both she 

and her corporation enjoy identical rights of free speech, free exercise, and free 

association. It is only with respect to the CPA claim that Stutzman asserts a separate 

defense: she argues that even if Arlene's Flowers is liable for the CPA violation, she 

cannot be personally liable for a violation of that statute. 

ANALYSIS 

As noted above, this case presents both statutory and constitutional questions. 

Both are reviewed de novo. Williams v. Tilaye, 174 Wn.2d 57, 61, 272 P.3d 235 

(2012) ("[s]tatutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo" (citing 

State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003))); Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. 

Dist. No. 49, 165 Wn.2d 494, 503, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009) (appellate court "review[s] 
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all constitutional challenges de novo" (citing State v. Jones, 159 Wn.2d 231, 237, 

149 P.3d 636 (2006))). 

I. Stutzman's Refusal To Provide Custom Floral Arrangements for a 
Same-Sex Wedding Violated the WLAD's Prohibition on 
Discrimination in Public Accommodations, RCW 49.60.215 

Stutzman's first statutory argument implicates the WLAD, chapter 49.60 

RCW. The trial court ruled that Stutzman violated RCW 49.60.215, which prohibits 

discrimination in the realm of public accommodations. That statute provides: 

(1) It shall be an unfair practice for any person or the person's agent 
or employee to commit an act which directly or indirectly results in any 
distinction, restriction, or discrimination, or the requiring of any person 
to pay a larger sum than the uniform rates charged other persons, or the 
refusing or withholding from any person the admission, patronage, 
custom, presence, frequenting, dwelling, staying, or lodging in any 
place of public resort, accommodation, assemblage, or amusement, 
except for conditions and limitations established by law and applicable 
to all persons, regardless of ... sexual orientation .... 

RCW 49.60.215. The protected class status of "sexual orientation" was added to 

this provision in 2006. LAws OF 2006, ch. 4, § 13. 

The WLAD defines places of public accommodation to include places 

maintained "for the sale of goods, merchandise, services, or personal property, or 

for the rendering of personal services .... " RCW 49.60.040(2). Protected 

individuals are guaranteed "[t]he right to the full enjoyment of any of the 

accommodations, advantages, facilities, or privileges" of such places. RCW 
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49.60.030(1)(b). Additionally, the WLAD states that "[t]he right to be free from 

discrimination because of . .. sexual orientation ... is recognized as and declared to 

be a civil right," RCW 49.60.030(1) (emphasis added). The WLAD prohibits 

discrimination on the different basis of "marital status" in the employment context, 

but not in the context of public accommodations. Compare RCW 49.60.180 (listing 

"marital status" as a protected class in section governing unfair practices of 

employers) with RCW 49.60.215 (omitting marital status from analogous public 

accommodations statute). 

RCW 49.60.030(2) authorizes private plaintiffs to bring suit for violations of 

the WLAD. To make out a prima facie case under the WLAD for discrimination in 

the public accommodations context, the plaintiff must establish four elements: (1) 

that the plaintiff is a member of a protected class, RCW 49.60.030(1); (2) that the 

defendant is a place of public accommodation, RCW 49.60.215; (3) that the 

defendant discriminated against the plaintiff, whether directly or indirectly, id.; and 

( 4) that the discrimination occurred "because of' the plaintiffs status or, in other 

words, that the protected status was a substantial factor causing the discrimination, 

RCW 49.60.030. See also Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth., 128 Wn.2d 618, 637, 911 

P .2d 1319 ( 1996) (setting forth elements of prima facie case for disability 

discrimination under RCW 49.60.215). 
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Stutzman contests only the last element: she contends that she did not 

discriminate against Ingersoll "because of' his protected class status under the 

WLAD. See Br. of Appellants at 19-21. 1 She offers three arguments in support of 

this interpretation of the statute. 

First, Stutzman argues that if she discriminated against Ingersoll, it was on the 

basis of his "marital status," not his "sexual orientation." Br. of Appellants at 19-

21. Second, she argues that the legislature could not have intended the 2006 

amendments to protect people seeking same-sex wedding services since same-sex 

marriages were "illegal" in Washington in 2006. Id. at 15-17. She points out that 

when the legislature amended the public accommodations provisions of the WLAD 

in 2006, it also added language stating that the chapter "shall not be construed to 

endorse any specific belief, practice, behavior, or orientation," and affirming that the 

addition "shall not be constnled to modify or supersede state law relating to 

marriage." Id. at 17-18, 15 (quoting LAWS OF 2006, ch. 4, § 2 (codified at RCW 

49.60.020)). Third, Stutzman argues that because the WLAD protects both sexual 

1 No one disputes that Ingersoll and Freed are gay men who sought to marry in 
recognition of their nearly nine-year committed relationship. And Stutzman admits that 
she is the "sole owner and operator of Arlene's Flowers, Inc.," CP at 535, which is "a 
Washington for-profit corporation engaged in the sale of goods and services, including 
flowers for weddings," to the public. Id. at 2, 7-8. Furthermore, Stutzman confirms that 
she declined to do the flowers for Ingersoll's wedding because of her religious convictions. 
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orientation and religion, it requires that courts balance those rights when they 

conflict. 2 These arguments fail. 

A. By refusing to provide services for a same-sex wedding, Stutzman 
discriminated on the basis of "sexual orientation" under the WLAD 

Stutzman argues that the WLAD distinguishes between discrimination on the 

basis of "sexual orientation"-which the statute prohibits-and discrimination 

against those who marry members of the same sex. But numerous courts-including 

our own-have rejected this kind of status/conduct distinction in cases involving 

statutory and constitutional claims of discrimination. E.g., Hegwine v. Longview 

Fibre Co.) Inc., 162 Wn.2d 340, 349, 172 P.3d 688 (2007) ("under the plain language 

of the WLAD and its interpretative regulations, pregnancy related employment 

discrimination claims are matters of sex discrimination"); Elane Photography) LLC 

v. Willock, 2013-NMSC-040, 309 P.3d 53 (2013) (rejecting argument identical to 

Stutzman's, in context ofNew Mexico's Human Rights Act (NMHRA), N.M. STAT. 

ANN.§§ 28-1-1 to 28-1-13)3
; Christian Legal Soc)y Chapter ofUniv. ofCal. v. 

2 Stutzman also argues that by compelling her to furnish flowers for a same-sex 
marriage ceremony, the State "endorses" same-sex marriages and also requires her to 
"endorse" them. Br. of Appellants at 18. She claims that this conflicts with the WLAD 
provision stating that "[t]his chapter shall not be construed to endorse any specific belief, 
practice, behavior, or orientation." RCW 49.60.020. But Stutzman cites no legal authority 
for this interpretation of the term "endorse" in the WLAD. 

3 In Elane Photography, the New Mexico Supreme Court addressed the question of 
whether a wedding photographer discriminated against a lesbian couple on the basis of 
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Martinez, 561 U.S. 661,672,688, 130 S. Ct. 2971, 177 L. Ed. 2d 838 (2010) (student 

organization was discriminating based on sexual orientation, not belief or conduct, 

when it excluded from membership any person who engaged in "'unrepentant 

homosexual conduct"'; thus, University's antidiscrimination policy did not violate 

First Amendment protections); see also Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 575, 123 

S. Ct. 24 72, 156 L. Ed. 2d 508 (2003) (by criminalizing conduct typically undertaken 

by gay people, a state discriminates against gay people in violation of protections 

under the Fourteenth Amendment to the federal constitution); Romer v. Evans, 517 

U.S. 620, 641, 116 S. Ct. 1620, 134 L. Ed. 2d 855 (1996) (Scalia, J., dissenting) 

("'After all, there can hardly be more palpable discrimination against a class than 

making the conduct that defines the class criminal.'" (quoting Padula v. Webster, 

their sexual orientation by refusing to photograph their wedding under a state public 
accommodations law similar to Washington's WLAD. 309 P.3d 53. The proprietor of 
Elane Photography argued, much like Stutzman here, that she was not discriminating 
against Willock and her fiancee based on their sexual orientation, but rather was choosing 
not to "endorse" same-sex marriage by photographing one in conflict with her religious 
beliefs. !d. at 61. The court rejected Elane Photography's attempt to distinguish status 
from conduct, finding that "[t]o allow discrimination based on conduct so closely 
correlated with sexual orientation would severely undermine the purpose of the NMHRA." 
!d. Elane Photography was represented on appeal by the same organization-Alliance 
Defending Freedom-that represents Stutzman before this court. !d. at 58; see also Mullins 
v. Masterpiece Cakeshop, Inc., 2015 COA 115, ~~ 1-2, 370 P.3d 272 (2015) (holding that 
baker's refusal to make wedding cake for same-sex marriage violated public 
accommodations provision of state Anti-Discrimination Act (Co. REV. STAT. §§ 24-34-
401 to 24-34-406) and rejecting free speech and free exercise defenses), cert. denied, No. 
15SC738 (Colo. Apr. 25, 2016). 
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261 U.S. App. D.C. 365, 371, 822 F.2d 97 (1987))); Bray v. Alexandria Women's 

Health Clinic, 506 U.S. 263, 270, 113 S. Ct. 753, 122 L. Ed. 2d 34 (1993) 

(summarizing that some conduct is so linked to a particular group of people that 

targeting it can readily be interpreted as an attempt to disfavor that group by stating 

that "[a] tax on wearing yarmulkes is a tax on Jews");4 Bob Jones Univ. v. United 

States, 461 U.S. 574,605, 103 S. Ct. 2017,76 L. Ed. 2d 157 (1983) ("discrimination 

on the basis of racial affiliation and association is a form of racial discrimination").5 

Finally, last year, the Supreme Court likened the denial of marriage equality to same-

sex couples itself to discrimination, noting that such denial "works a grave and 

4 Stutzman argues that Bray actually supports her position because the Bray Court 
rejected the argument that a group's antiabortion protests outside clinics reflected an 
'"invidiously discriminatory animus"' towards women in general. 506 U.S. at 269 (quoting 
Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 102, 91 S. Ct. 1790, 29 L. Ed. 2d 338 (1971)); Reply 
Br. of Appellants at 3 9. This is related to her argument in the opening brief that because 
she generally lacks animus towards gay people, and because her refusal to provide service 
to Mr. Ingersoll was motivated by religious beliefs, she cannot be said to have 
discriminated "because of' sexual orientation as required by the WLAD. See Br. of 
Appellants at 19-21. From Bray, Stutzman concludes that her decision to decline Mr. 
Ingersoll's "artistic commission" was acceptable because it was "reasonable" and she bore 
"no underlying animus" towards gay people in general. Reply Br. of Appellants at 40. 
However, Bray dealt with a question of statutory interpretation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), 
which has been interpreted to require a showing of animus. See Bray, 506 U.S. at 267-68; 
Griffin, 403 U.S. at 102. In contrast, we have already addressed this question of an animus 
requirement with regards to the WLAD and have held that it contains no such requirement 
(see discussion below). 

5 See also Blackburn v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 186 Wn.2d 250, 258-59, 
3 7 5 P .3d 107 6 (20 16) (discrimination on basis of race occurs even where racially motivated 
staffing decision might have been based on benign reason). 
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continuing harm," and is a "disability on gays and lesbians [that] serves to disrespect 

and subordinate them." Obergefell v. Hodges,_ U.S. _, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 2604, 

2607-08, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609 (2015) (fundamental right to marry includes same-sex 

couples and is protected by due process and equal protection clauses of Fourteenth 

Amendment; abrogating the equal protection and due process holdings in Andersen 

v. King County, 158 Wn.2d 1, 30, 138 P.3d 963 (2006) (plurality opinion) to the 

contrary). 6 

In accordance with this precedent, we reject Stutzman's proposed distinction 

between status and conduct fundamentally linked to that status. This is consistent 

with the language of the WLAD itself, which, as respondents observe, states that it 

is to be construed liberally, RCW 49.60.020; that all people, regardless of sexual 

orientation are to have ''full enjoyment of any of the accommodations, advantages, 

facilities, or privileges" of any place of public accommodation, RCW 49.60.030 

(emphasis added); and that all discriminatory acts, including any act "which directly 

or indirectly results in any distinction, restriction, or discrimination" based on a 

6 In response to the authority cited here, Stutzman cites two cases for the proposition 
that other courts have drawn a distinction between conduct and status. See Reply Br. of 
Appellants at 36-37. She draws our attention to two trial court decisions from Kentucky 
and Virginia. ld. 
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person's sexual orientation is an unfair practice in violation of the WLAD, RCW 

49.60.215 (emphasis added). 

B. There is no same-sex wedding exception to the WLAD's public 
accommodation provision, RCW 49.60.215 

For the reasons given in Section I.A above, the plain language of RCW 

49.60.215 prohibits Stutzman's refusal to provide same-sex wedding services to 

Ingersoll; such refusal constitutes discrimination on the basis of"sexual orientation," 

in violation ofRCW 49.60.215. The same analysis applies to her corporation. 

Stutzman asks us to read an implied same-sex wedding exception into this 

statute. She argues that the legislature could not have intended to require equal 

access to public accommodations for same-sex wedding services because when it 

amended RCW 49.60.215 to prohibit sexual orientation discrimination, same-sex 

marriage was "illegal" in Washington. 

We reject this argument for two reasons. First, the WLAD already contains 

an express exemption to RCW 49.60.215 for "religious organization[s]"7 that object 

to providing public accommodations for same-sex weddings. LAWS OF 2012, ch. 3, 

7 This exemption does not extend to Arlene's Flowers, which does not meet the 
WLAD' s definition of a "religious organization." I d. at § 1 (7)(b) (defining "religious 
organization" to include "entities whose principal purpose is the study, practice, or 
advancement of religion," such as "churches, mosques, synagogues, temples," etc.). 
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§ 1(5) ("[n]o religious organization is required to provide accommodations, 

facilities, advantages, privileges, services, or goods related to the solemnization or 

celebration of a marriage"). If the WLAD already excluded same-sex wedding 

services from the public accommodations covered under RCW 49.60.215, this 

exemption would be superfluous. We interpret statutes to avoid such superfluity 

whenever possible. Rivardv. State, 168 Wn.2d 775,783,231 P.3d 186 (2010) (in 

giving meaning to ambiguous statutory provisions, "we interpret a statute to give 

effect to all language, so as to render no portion meaningless or superfluous"). 

Second, for purposes of the analysis Stutzman would like us to adopt, same­

sex marriage has never been "illegal" in Washington. Stutzman cites our decision 

in Waggoner v. Ace Hardware Corp., 134 Wn.2d 748, 750, 953 P.2d 88 (1998), 

which rejected a claim of marital status discrimination by two people terminated 

from their jobs for cohabiting in contravention of their workplace antinepotism 

policy. Waggoner argued that "cohabitation" fit within the meaning of the term 

"marital status." In examining this question of statutory interpretation, we 

determined that the plain meaning of the word "marital"-that is, pertaining to "the 

status of being married, separated, divorced, or widowed"-was sufficient to resolve 

the question against petitioners. Id. at 753. We thus rejected Waggoner's argument 

because "[ w ]e presume legislative consistency when called upon to construe 
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statutory enactments or new amendments to old ones" and our legislature had 

criminalized cohabitation prior to protecting marital status under the WLAD. Id. at 

754. Of significance here, we noted that cohabitation remained a crime for a full 

three years after marital status was included as a protected status, and observed that 

"[i]t would be most anomalous for the Legislature to criminalize and protect the 

same conduct at the same time." !d. (emphasis added). Stutzman argues that we 

should treat same-sex marriage the same way and hold that the legislature could not 

possibly have intended to protect that practice when it protected sexual orientation 

as a status. 

But Stutzman's reliance on Waggoner is misplaced. Washington's Defense 

of Marriage Act did not criminalize same-sex marriage. Former RCW 9.79.120 

(1973), repealed by LAWS OF 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 260, § 9A.92.010(211). Rather, 

it codified, as a matter of state law, that the only legally recognized marriages in the 

State of Washington were those between a man and a woman. See LAWS OF 1998, 

ch. 1, § 2 ("It is the intent of the legislature ... to establish public policy against 

same-sex marriage in statutory law that clearly and definitively declares same-sex 

marriages will not be recognized in Washington"). Former RCW 26.04.010 (1998) 

enacted no criminal penalties for attempts by two individuals of the same sex to wed; 

those individuals would simply not have had a valid "marriage" under Washington 
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law. See LAWS OF 1998, ch. 1, § 3. Former RCW 9.79.120, on the other hand, 

specified that cohabitation was "a gross misdemeanor." Waggoner, 134 Wn.2d at 

754 n.4. Our reasoning in Waggoner turned on the presence of a criminal statute 

targeting the conduct at issue, which is absent here. 

We hold that there is no same-sex wedding exception to the WLAD's public 

accommodations provisions. 

C. The WLAD contains no mandate to balance religious rights against 
the rights of protected class members 

In her final statutory argument regarding the WLAD, Stutzman contends that 

the superior court erred by failing to balance her right to religious free exercise 

against Ingersoll's right to equal service. Stutzman argues that because the WLAD 

also protects patrons of public accommodations from discrimination based on 

"creed," RCW 49.60.030(1), and because this court has recognized that the WLAD 

"sets forth a nonexclusive list of rights," Marquis v. City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 

107, 922 P.2d 43 (1996), the statute actually grants conflicting rights. As a 

consequence, she argues, courts should conduct a balancing inquiry "on a case-by-

case basis," Reply Br. of Appellants at 43. She cites Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 
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97 Wn.2d 30, 37-39, 640 P.2d 716 (1982), for the rule that this court uses balancing 

tests to resolve claims of competing rights in other contexts.8 

But Stutzman cites no authority for her contention that the WLAD protects 

proprietors of public accommodations to the same extent as it protects their patrons, 

nor for her contention that a balancing test should be adopted for the WLAD. And, 

to the extent that Stutzman relies on Ishikawa, that case is inapposite: it dealt with 

two competing rights-the right to a fair trial and the right to open courts-both of 

which are constitutional, not statutory. 97 Wn.2d at 37. 

When faced with a question of statutory interpretation, we "'must not add 

words where the legislature has chosen not to include them."' Lake v. Woodcreek 

Homeowners Ass 'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P .3d 1283 (20 1 0) (quoting Rest. Dev., 

Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003)). Here, the 

8 Although Stutzman refers to the balancing test set forth in Ishikawa, that is not the 
test that she applies in her briefing. Instead, Stutzman articulates a three-part balancing 
inquiry that ( 1) prioritizes "[ r ]ights of express constitutional magnitude ... over other rights 
when they conflict," (2) evaluates whether infringement on the rights of the opposing party 
are narrowly tailored to protect the rights of the claimant, and (3) weighs the benefits and 
burdens on each party. Br. of Appellants at 23-24. In conducting this inquiry, Stutzman 
concludes that her rights "should take precedence" here because they are of constitutional 
magnitude, rather than derived from police power as are Ingersoll's; the exception for 
weddings only (as opposed to refusal to serve the gay community for any purpose) is 
narrowly tailored to protect her religious rights; and she is more significantly burdened in 
that she is forced to choose between losing business or violating her religious beliefs, 
whereas "Mr. Ingersoll and Mr. Freed are able to obtain custom floral designs for their 
same-sex wedding from nearby florists." Id. 
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legislature has provided no indication in the text of the WLAD that it intended to 

import a fact-specific, case-by-case, constitutional balancing test into the statute. 

Moreover, the plain terms of the WLAD's public accommodations provision-the 

statute at issue here-protect patrons, not business owners. In other regulatory 

contexts, this court and the United States Supreme Court have held that individuals 

who engage in commerce necessarily accept some limitations on their conduct as a 

result. See United States v. Lee, 455 U.S. 252, 261, 102 S. Ct. 1051, 71 L. Ed. 2d 

127 (1982) (Stevens, J., concurring in judgment) (declining to extend Social Security 

exemption to Amish employers on religious grounds because "[w]hen followers of 

a particular sect enter into commercial activity as a matter of choice, the limits they 

accept on their own conduct as a matter of conscience and faith are not to be 

superimposed on the statutory schemes which are binding on others in that activity"); 

Backlund v. Bd. ofComm 'rs of King County Hasp. Dist. No.2, 106 Wn.2d 632, 648, 

724 P.2d 981 (1986) (rejecting religious grounds as valid basis for physician to 

decline liability insurance because "[t]hose who enter into a profession as a matter 

of choice, necessarily face regulation as to their own conduct"); In re Marriage of 

Didier, 134 Wn. App. 490, 499, 140 P.3d 607 (2006). 

Because it is inconsistent with the WLAD' s plain terms and unsupported by 

any precedent, we decline to adopt Stutzman's proposed balancing test. In sum, 
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Stutzman's refusal to provide custom floral arrangements for a same-sex wedding 

violated the WLAD's prohibition on discrimination in public accommodations.9 

II. Stutzman Fails To Show That the WLAD, as Applied in This Case, 
Violates Her State or Federal Constitutional Right to Free Speech 

As noted above, Stutzman raises five constitutional challenges to the WLAD 

as applied to her. She is correct that if the State statute violated a constitutional right, 

the constitutional right would certainly prevail. U.S. CONST. art. VI, cl. 2 (federal 

constitutional supremacy); Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 294-95, 351 P.3d 862 

(2015) (state constitutional provision prevails over state statute to the contrary). We 

therefore analyze each of Stutzman's constitutional defenses carefully. 

The first of these defenses is a free speech challenge: Stutzman contends that 

her floral arrangements are artistic expressions protected by the state and federal 

constitutions and that the WLAD impermissibly compels her to speak in favor of 

same-sex marnage. 

A. As applied to Stutzman in this case, the WLAD does not violate First 
Amendment speech protections 

"Free speech is revered as the 'Constitution's most majestic guarantee,' 

central to the preservation of all other rights." Pub. Disclosure Comm 'n v. 119 Vote 

9 To the extent Stutzman argues that her religious free exercise rights supersede 
Ingersoll's and Freed's statutory protections, we address that argument in the constitutional 
analyses below. 
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No! Comm., 135 Wn.2d 618, 624, 957 P.2d 691 (1998) (plurality opinion) (quoting 

Nelson v. McClatchy Newspapers, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 523, 536,936 P.2d 1123 (1997)). 

"The government may not prohibit the dissemination of ideas that it disfavors, nor 

compel the endorsement of ideas that it approves." Knox v. Serv. Emps. Int'l Union, 

LocallOOO, _U.S._, 132 S. Ct. 2277, 2288, 183 L. Ed. 2d 281 (2012). Indeed, 

the First Amendment protects even hate speech, provided it is not "fighting words" 

or a "'true threat."' Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 359, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. 

Ed. 2d 535 (2003) (quoting Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 708, 89 S. Ct. 1399, 

22 L. Ed. 2d 664 (1969) (per curiam)). 

Stutzman argues that the WLAD, as applied to her in this case, violates First 

Amendment protections against "compelled speech" because it forces her to endorse 

same-sex marriage. Br. of Appellants at 24-31. To succeed in this argument, she 

must first demonstrate that the conduct at issue here-her commercial sale of floral 

wedding arrangements-amounts to "expression" protected by the First 

Amendment. Clarkv. Cmty.for Creative Non-Violence, 468 U.S. 288,293 n.5, 104 

S. Ct. 3065, 82 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1984) ("[I]t is the obligation ofthe person desiring to 

engage in assertedly expressive conduct to demonstrate that the First Amendment 

even applies. To hold otherwise would be to create a rule that all conduct is 

presumptively expressive.") 
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